FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 17 1997

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STEPHAN BITTERMAN **and**  
HOWARD BITTERMAN, as  
co-personal representatives  
of the Estate of Irving  
Bitterman, deceased,

Petitioners,

**vs.**

ANNETTE BITTERMAN,

Respondent.

---

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

S.C. CASE NO. 90-074

DCA CASE NO. 94-0111 <sup>Chief Deputy Clerk</sup>

PETITIONERS' JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

---

Petitioners' Jurisdictional Brief on Review of a Decision  
of the Fourth District Court of Appeal

---

JOHN BERANEK of  
Ausley & McMullen  
Post Office Box 391  
227 S. Calhoun Street  
Tallahassee, Florida 32302  
(904) 224-9115  
Fla. Bar No. 005419

Attorneys for Petitioners

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

The focus of this jurisdictional brief is a conflict between appellate courts involving a Fourth District Court of Appeal opinion and its retroactive application of a new probate statute, resulting in a doubling of attorney fees for an estate opened in 1991. The estate merely exercised its rights to a hearing and under In re: Estate of Platt, 586 So. 2d 328 (Fla. 1991) and was assessed "fees on fees"<sup>1</sup> in direct contradiction of Platt and recent holdings of the Fifth District in a series of Williams College cases.<sup>2</sup>

The underlying decision is rooted in two appeals in the Fourth District Court of Appeal which were disposed of in a single opinion after denial of a Bitterman motion to consolidate. Petitioners now file the **same** brief under both case numbers along with a motion to consolidate. The Fourth District's decision was rendered January 23, 1997 and petitioners timely filed notices to invoke discretionary jurisdiction. Petitioners respectfully request that this Court acknowledge the important public policy implications of the Fourth District's opinion for all estate administrations and exercise its jurisdiction under Article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) to review the case on the merits.

The opinion affirms imposition of attorneys' fees and "fees on

---

**"Fees on fees" as used throughout this brief means additional attorney fees awarded for time spent by respondents establishing their underlying reasonable fees.**

**Williams College v. Bourne, 670 So. 2d 1118 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) (Williams III) and Williams College v. Bourne, 656 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) (Williams II)**

fees" for the time spent by two law firms in proving their underlying "reasonable" attorney's fees in a probate administration commencing in 1991. The services by both firms were all rendered in 1991 and 1992 while in 1993 any time was devoted to the establishment and proof of fees; that is "fees on fees". In conflict with the two Williams College cases, the Fourth District held that "fees on fees" were properly awarded against this 1991 estate, based upon a retroactive application of section 733.6171, recently enacted by the Florida Legislature effective October 1, 1993.<sup>3</sup> The District Court also assessed "fees on fees" under 57.105, Florida Statutes as a result of the estate's exercise of its rights to a reasonableness determination under section 733.6175 and contrary to Platt's requirement of a "lodestar" analysis of claimed fees against an estate.

The Fourth District's opinion is very critical of New York attorney Stephan Bitterman who served **as** a co-personal representative of his father's estate. Whether the opinion correctly states the history of the case and correctly characterizes Mr. Bitterman's litigation conduct goes to the merits and although strongly disputed<sup>4</sup> cannot now be addressed. The trial

---

<sup>3</sup>The statute was again amended in 1995, but the "fees on fees provision was retained.

<sup>4</sup>Petitioners submit that the District Court's selective facts and criticism of Mr. Bitterman for being overly litigious were unwarranted. As an example, in resisting "fees on fees" Mr. Bitterman had to file a motion to obtain Boose Casey's final bill; and the bills of both law firms in early 1993 sought "fees on fees" as outlawed by the 1991 Platt decision, long before even the enactment of section 733.6171(7) in the spring of 1993, and which was not effective till October 1993. These and many other issues such as the material inaccuracy of footnote 3 of the opinion based on

court simply signed verbatim a judgment provided by opposing counsel and the District Court was unduly influenced by findings in that judgment which are simply not supported by documents in the record. With these preliminaries aside, we now proceed to the facts.

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT OF FACTS

The respondent Boose Casey law firm was retained as attorney for co-personal representative Stephan Bitterman in September 1991, and in June of 1992 attorney Peter Matwiczuk became administrator ad litem and hired his own law firm as counsel. As a result of a deadlock between the co-personal representatives on interpretations of the will which incorporated language from the Internal Revenue Code, as well as issues complicated by Mrs. Bitterman's divorce action pending at the time of death, the administrator ad litem was appointed as to limited issues, with the consent of both personal representatives. The administrator ad litem responded to litigation brought by Mrs. Bitterman (decedent's spouse) and the litigation was settled by stipulation in October 1992.<sup>5</sup>

In late December 1992, Peter Matwiczuk was discharged as

---

**court docket sheets will be dealt with in detail if this Court accepts jurisdiction. On the merits, the record will be fully analyzed and Mr. Bitterman's conduct fully justified.**

<sup>5</sup>The actions of the attorneys, including the administrator ad litem between June 1992 and late October 1992, when a stipulation of settlement was signed were the subject of the 733.6175 proceeding brought by petitioners. It was appellants' contention below that counsel for all parties during the summer of 1992 continued to litigate and ignored numerous settlement documents that were virtually identical to the document signed at the courthouse steps in late October 1992. These settlement documents of June through September were in evidence, are a part of the record but were disregarded by the courts below.

administrator ad litem. Boose Casey was discharged as attorney for co-personal representative Stephan Bitterman on January 4, 1993. In March 1993, after a motion had been made to compel production of Boose Casey's final bill, a petition was filed by the co-personal representatives seeking a judicial determination of respondents' reasonable fees under 733.6175. This reasonableness determination was set for an August 1993 hearing.

Subsequent to the commencement of the 733.6175 reasonableness proceeding, the 1993 Florida Legislature modified the law as this Court had announced it in the 1991 Platt decision. Specifically, Platt had held at p. 336 that "fees on fees" were not allowed under the then existing probate statutes. Effective October 1, 1993, the Legislature enacted section 733.6171, a new statute which, among other things, arguably provided for imposition of "fees on fees" in subsection (7) thereof under limited circumstances.

In December of 1993, the trial court rendered a judgment imposing attorneys' fees against the estate resulting from the August hearing. Between the August hearing and the December judgment, the new section 733.6171 had become effective and the trial court, in a proposed judgment signed verbatim, held that it should be retroactively applied and granted respondent's "fees on fees". The trial court also awarded additional "fees on fees" to Boose Casey only, based on section 57.105 and under In re Estate of Duval, 174 so. 2d 580 (Fla. 2d DCA 1965) .<sup>6</sup>

On appeal to the Fourth District, the judgment was affirmed on

---

<sup>6</sup> No section 57.105 or Duval fees were awarded to Matwiczuk.

every issue. The appellate court expressly ruled that section 733.6171 should be retroactively applied and that "fees on fees" were properly assessed under sections 733.6171(7) and 57.105. The court also awarded appellate fees apparently under both statutes. The appellate fees along with all "fees on fees" will exceed the total amount of the underlying fees of approximately \$100,000.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A direct conflict exists between decisions on the issue of "fees on fees" in probate matters and whether a new probate attorney fee statute has retroactive effect. See Williams College II and III.

#### ARGUMENT

##### **THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT CONFLICTS WITH OTHER DECISIONS ON THE IMPOSITION OF "FEES ON FEES" AND THE RETROACTIVE APPLICATION OF THE NEW ATTORNEY FEE STATUTE FOR ESTATE ADMINISTRATION.**

There is absolutely no question that the Fourth District's opinion expressly imposed "fees on fees" against the Bitterman estate based on an announced retroactive application of the 1993 version of section 733.6171. This statute did not exist prior to October 1, 1993 and the Fourth District specifically rejected application of section 733.617, Florida Statutes (1991), which was the previously existing statute in effect when the attorney's services at issue were rendered. The Fourth District Court of Appeal opinion is in express and direct conflict with Williams College II and III.

As to "fees on fees", the analysis necessarily begins with this Court's landmark decision of In Re: Estate of Platt, which

thoroughly analyzed probate practice and attorneys' fees. Platt required use of a "lodestar" analysis as a starting point and expressly ruled at page 336 that "fees on fees" could not be recovered against an estate in a probate proceeding. This ruling was at the very heart of the decision and **was** based on section 733.617 **as** it existed at that time. In 1993, the Florida Legislature circumvented certain aspects of Platt by passing section 733.6171 authorizing "fees on fees" in limited circumstances to the personal representative's attorney in any case before the order of discharge.

In the Bitterman opinion, the Fourth District posed the question as to "fees on fees"; "whether section 733.617, Florida Statutes (1991) or section 733.6171(7), Florida Statutes (1993), is applicable to this case." The Court held that the recently enacted subsection (7) allowed "fees on fees" and that it had retroactive effect as a result of subsection (8) of the new statute.

The Fourth District decision is in direct and express conflict with the two Williams College v. Bourne decisions from the Fifth District; Williams II and Williams III. Both cases hold that section 733.6171 cannot be constitutionally applied in a retroactive fashion to allow "fees on fees". More general conflict also exists with the entire line of case law barring retroactive application of statutes which change vested substantive rights. See: Young v. Altenhaus, 472 So. 2d 1152, (Fla. 1985) L. Ross, Inc. v. R. W. Roberts Constr. Co., 481 So. 2d 484 (Fla. 1986) (dealing with a new attorneys fee statute); and State Farm Mutual Auto Insurance Co. v. LaForte, 658 So. 2d 55 (Fla. 1995).

In Williams II, the Fifth District expressly held that the 1993 version of section 733.6171 could not be applied retroactively to an estate which had been opened and the attorney's services rendered to the estate before the effective date of the statute. In Williams III, decided in 1996, the Court again analyzed whether the 1993 statute could be applied retroactively and further whether it allowed "fees on fees" when a different attorney spent time litigating to recover the fees of another attorney.

The Court expressly ruled that: (a) the statute did not authorize fees for one attorney representing another, and (b) the statute could not be constitutionally applied in a retroactive fashion. The court stated:

The first question is whether the statute, by its terms, authorizes fees for an attorney representing the attorney seeking fees. The answer to this question is plainly no.<sup>7</sup>

\* \* \*

We agree with Williams College, . that section 733.6171(7), Florida Statutes (1993), 'cannot be applied to award attorney's fees to Roby for defending Ward's fee request. The school correctly contends that application of the statute serves to increase the fees the estate must bear over those which existed prior to the effective date of the statute. Such fees would not have been taxable to the estate under Platt.

Further, in Williams III, the Fifth District ruled in reliance on L. Ross that "fees on fees" for services actually rendered after the statute became effective could not be awarded because the estate's liability for attorney's fees and the legal formula by

---

<sup>7</sup>The court recognized an exception in Williams III because the attorney suffered a stroke so representation by other counsel became necessary. This ruling is also a conflict.

which such fees would be calculated was "legally fixed" as of the moment such representation was commenced and that "these rights were inextricably bundled at the moment Ward began his representation of the estate." The Court expressly held that the attorney was not entitled to receive fees under the new statute for time expended in determining the amount of his fees or another's fees. Thus, here the Bitterman estate liability for the fees was fixed in 1991 when Boose Casey was retained and in 1992 when Matwiczuk was appointed and retained his own firm. That law at that time was as stated in Platt.

The Bitterman opinion from the Fourth District and the Williams II and III opinions from the Fifth District are facially at odds and conflicting. In the Fourth District, section 733.6171(7) has retroactive effect while in the Fifth District the statute does not have retroactive effect. Further, in the Fifth District the estate's obligation to pay fees and the attorney's right to recover those fees is determined by the law existing as of the date counsel begins his representation while in the Fourth District the key date is when the litigation ends. The Fourth District wrongly stated that the new statute applied because: "Clearly, it falls within the preview of section 733.6171(8) [on retroactivity] ." The reason given was that the fee proceeding "was concluded in . . . December 1993."

In addition to the very specific conflicts with Williams II and III, there is also direct conflict with Platt, L. Ross, Inc., Altenhaus and Laforte, all of which hold that substantive rights cannot be adversely affected by subsequent legislation after those

rights are already vested. Florida courts have consistently held that even an expressed statement of retroactive effect by the Legislature will not be applied by the courts if the statute impairs vested substantive rights, and that attorney's fees fall within this classification. See Altenhaus at 1154 and Williams College III at 1120. Under pre-1993 law, when these lawyers were hired, they were not entitled to "fees on fees" and that law continued to apply notwithstanding the 1993 legislation.

In addition, conflict clearly exists with the Fifth District's holding that the new statute does not apply to one attorney who represents another attorney in his fee application.

Fees Under 57.105

The Fourth District also affirmed a ruling under section 57.105 that additional "fees on fees" were properly found. This ruling is in direct and irreconcilable conflict with Fisman v. Ross, 644 So. 2d 1128 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) expressly holding that "fees on fees" cannot be recovered under section 57.105. The Third District Court stated:

We must, however, reverse that portion of the award which represents both costs and attorney's time spend litigating the amount of fees because there is no statutory basis [under section 57.105] for the same.

Again, the conflict is striking. In the Fourth District, "fees on fees" can be recovered under section 57.105 while in the Third District such fees are prohibited. It is also in conflict with Platt's holding that the starting point for a reasonable fee determination is the "lodestar". This is an important conflict which this Court should resolve.

The Fourth District also relied on the Second District's 1965 In Re: Estate of Duval opinion as an alternative basis for awarding additional "fees on fees" for the legal effort required in obtaining a judgment for attorney's fees. Duval predates Platt and all current probate law and Platt and the more recent statutes have rendered Duval totally obsolete. Again, Platt requires a "lodestar" approach to fees -- such an approach was unknown in Florida law at the time of Duval.

The beneficiaries and personal representative of an estate have the right to petition for a determination of what fees are reasonable. This is all that Mr. Bitterman did in this case, and the heirs of an estate should certainly not be subjected to the risk of fees based on Duval or section 57.105 fees in a section 733.6175 proceedings to determine a reasonable fee against the estate.

#### CONCLUSION