018 200g

#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 90,074
CONSOLIDATED WITH SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 90,075

STEPHAN BITTERMAN and HOWARD BITTERMAN, as co-personal representatives of the Estate of Irving Bitterman, deceased,

Petitioners,

vs.

ANNETTE BITTERMAN, ET AL=,

Respondents.

FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO. 94-0411

RESPONDENTS, PETER MATWICZYK AND METTLER & MATWICZYK'S, BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

JOHN R. HARGROVE, ESQUIRE
W. KENT BROWN, ESQUIRE
HEINRICH GORDON HARGROVE
WEIHE & JAMES, P.A.
Attorneys for PETER MATWICZYK
and METTLER & MATWICZYK
Broward Financial Centre, 10th Floor
500 East Broward Boulevard
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
Telephone: (954) 527-2800

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Because of the BITTERMANS' self-serving and incomplete statement of the facts, which actually contains erroneous

conclusions of law, MATWICZYK provides his own statement of facts pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.210(c).

Irving Bitterman died on July 21, 1991, leaving a sizable estate. His two sons, petitioners HOWARD BITTERMAN and STEPHAN BITTERMAN, were named as co-personal representatives of the estate. During the course of administration, considerable disagreement arose between them, leading each to hire an attorney. When they later reached a deadlock over the administration of the estate, they agreed to the appointment of respondent PETER MATWICZYK as the administrator ad litem. MATWICZYK, in turn, hired what was then his law firm -- respondent METTLER & MATWICZYK -- to act as his counsel. As the Fourth District comprehensively explained in its opinion, MATWICZYK experienced considerable difficulty in handling matters regarding the estate due to the "endless discovery games" and repeated attacks by petitioner STEPHAN BITTERMAN.

Fortunately for everyone, the case settled on the eve of trial. Following settlement, MATWICZYK learned that STEPHAN BITTERMAN planned to challenge his fees. MATWICZYK therefore petitioned the court for discharge as administrator ad litem. The court discharged MATWICZYK and reserved jurisdiction to determine fees.

As the Fourth District's opinion reflects, MATWICZYK faced continual resistance from **STEPHAN** BITTERMAN in attempting to collect his fees. For example, in footnote **3** of the opinion the

Unless otherwise noted, "MATWICZYK" will be used herein to refer to both PETER MATWICZYK and his law firm METTLER & MATWICZYK.

"an eleventh hour" continuance of the first fee hearing, he fired off a series of thirty-five pleadings all of which necessitated a response from MATWICZYK. The court ultimately awarded MATWICZYK a total of \$39,308.04, which included in part his "fees on fees." On appeal, the Fourth District affirmed the award of "fees on fees" on two separate and independent grounds -- first, the Second District's decision in In re Estate of Duval, 174 So. 2d 580 (Fla. 2d DCA 1965), and second, the application of Florida Statute \$733.6171(7). Petitioners have requested that this Court accept discretionary jurisdiction on the basis of conflict.

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The BITTERMANS' petition for discretionary review is flawed for several reasons. First, they have improperly failed to limit their argument solely to jurisdiction as required by Fla. R. App. P. 9.120(d). Second, they have raised no sustainable conflict. Third, they improperly attempt to establish conflict based upon dictum. And fourth, they have overlooked a material factual distinction between this case and other cases which they allege to be in conflict.

#### ARGUMENT

Ι

#### NO INTERDISTRICT CONFLICT

The Second District's opinion in <u>In re Estate of Duval</u>, 174

So. 2d 580 (Fla. 2d DCA 1965) formed a valid basis for the Fourth District's ruling.<sup>2</sup> In <u>Duval</u>, the court permitted recovery of "fees on fees" where the overly litigious conduct of the legal representative created a situation whereby the lawyer had to devote extraordinary time and effort that otherwise would have been unnecessary. The court in <u>Duval</u> explained why such an award was appropriate:

[A] ppellees were thereby required to devote extraordinary services in and about this proceeding in order to protect their interest against appellant's assault. presumption abides that it was the decedent's intent that his estate shall be administered according to law and its lawful obligations, including expenses of administration, shall be promptly discharged when due; contemplates that those perfoxming services on behalf of the estate will not be put to unnecessary expense and labor in order to be compensated therefor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Curiously, the BITTERMANS state in footnote 6 in their statement of facts that no "<u>Duval</u> fees" were awarded to MATWICZYK. This is belied by the text on page 5 of Fourth District's opinion, which states in pertinent part (emphasis added):

The court further found justification for the award of the additional fees based on the holding of In re Estate of Duval, 174 So. 2d 580 (Fla. 2d DCA 1965) and the application of section 733.617, Florida Statutes. We agree with the trial court's well-reasoned findings and analysis and affirm the award of additional fees to both Boose, Casey and Matwiczyk.

(Emphasis added) As the Fourth District correctly observed, the same problem occurred in this case.

In an effort to somehow "bootstrap" the jurisdictional issue which simply does not exist, the BITTERMANS take the approach that <a href="Duval">Duval</a> and this decision are not in accord with current probate law. They argue:

<u>Duval</u> predates [<u>In re Estate of</u>] <u>Platt</u> [586 so. 2d 328 (Fla. 1991)] and all current probate law and <u>Platt</u> and the more recent statutes have rendered <u>Duval</u> totally obsolete.

(BITTERMAN brief at 10) By use of this strange characterization of "conflict", the BITTERMANS are improperly challenging the correctness of the Fourth District's reliance on <u>Duval</u> -- a "merits" argument, rather than a "jurisdictional" argument. As the Supreme Court held in <u>Kyle v. Kyle</u>, 139 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 1962), jurisdiction turns on *conflict* -- not on correctness of the decision. In <u>Nielsen v. City of Sarasota</u>, 117 So. 2d 731 (Fla. 1960), for example, this Court said:

[W]e are not permitted the judicial luxury of upsetting a decision of a Court of Appeal merely because we might personally disagree with the so-called "justice of the case" as announced by the Court below. In order to assert our power to set aside the decision of a Court of Appeal on the conflict theory we must find in that decision a real, live and vital conflict....

<u>Id</u>. at 734-35; <u>see also Florida Power & Light Co. v. Bell,</u> 1113 So. 2d 697, 699 (Fla. 1959) (only "patently irreconcilable precedents" may justify conflict jurisdiction). The BITTERMANS have therefore failed to establish the jurisdictional threshold.

# NO CONFLICT WITH SUPREME COURT DECISION

If what the BITTERMANS are really saying it that Duval conflicts with this Court's decision in Platt, their argument still falls short because Platt addressed a completely different issue. In Platt this Court held that an award of attorney's fees may not be based solely upon a percentage of the estate's value, but rather must be based -- at least in part -- on the "lodestar" method. This, of course, was exactly the approach used by the trial court in establishing the fee here. In fact, to the BITTERMANS' benefit, no multiplier was even used in this case. Because Platt and Duval address different issues, no "express and direct" conflict for jurisdictional purposes exists under Rule 9.030 (a) (2) (A) (iv) and <u>Fla. Const.</u> Art. V § 3(b) (3). <u>See</u> Curry v. State, 682 So. 2d 1091 (Fla. 1996). And, to the extent that the BITTERMANS are attempting to claim a conflict with the unspecified "more recent statutes", as the Court knows, this is not a permissible basis on which to establish a conflict. See Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a) (2) (A) (iv); cf. Allstate Ins. Co. v. Langston, 655 So. 2d 91 (Fla. 1995) (conflict with procedural rules cannot establish Supreme Court jurisdiction).

III

# NO "DICTA CONFLICT"

The BITTERMANS erroneously argue that the Fourth District's opinion in this case conflicts with the decisions in Williams

College v. Bourne, 670 So. 2d 1118 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) ("Williams

III") and Williams College v. Bourne, 656 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) ("Williams II"), in which the Fifth District reversed an award of "fees on fees" under Section 733.6171(7).

First, there can be no conflict for jurisdictional purposes where there is a material factual distinction between the allegedly conflicting cases. Dep't of Revenue v. Johnston, 442 So. 2d 950 1983); **Kyle**, 139 **So.2d** at 885. This is precisely the situation here. In Williams College, the "fees on fees" had been awarded by the trial court in May 1991, which was prior to the effective date of Section 733.6171 in October 1993. Section 733.6171(8) by its own terms precluded application of the Section 733.6171 including the "fees on fees" provision of subsection (7).4 By stark contrast, the fees in this case were awarded several months after the statute went into effect -- a situation for which the Legislature clearly contemplated that Section 733.6171 would apply. See § 733.6171(8). In light of this material factual distinction between the two cases, the requisite conflict has not been established. As the Supreme Court explained in **Kyle:** 

The test of our jurisdiction in such situations is not measured simply by our view

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Since the facts of <u>Williams College</u> are fully and adequately set forth in respondent BOOSE CASEY's jurisdictional brief in the consolidated Supreme Court Case No. 90,075, in the interest of brevity they will not be repeated here.

Section 733.6171(8), F<u>lorida Statutes</u>, provides that: "This section shall apply to estates in which an order of discharge has not been entered prior to its effective date [October 1, 19931 but not to those estates in which attorney's fees have previously been determined by order of court after notice." (Emphasis added)

regarding the correctness of the Court of Appeal decision. On the contrary, [w]e have said that conflict must be such-that if the later decision and the earlier decision were rendered by the same Court the former would have the effect of overruling the latter. If the two cases are distinguishable in controlling factual elements or if the points of law settled by the two cases axe not the same, then no conflict can arise.

Kyle, 139 so. 2d at 887 (emphasis added; citations omitted). Consequently, the requisite conflict has not been established.

Second, the BITTERMANS' argument misses the mark because the application of Section 733.6171(7) formed at best an alternative basis for the Fourth District's decision. As such, it was not necessary to the determination of the case, and was therefore by See Crabtree v. Aetna Cas. & Surety Co., 438 definition dictum. So. 2d 102 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). And dictum does not form the basis for the jurisdictional conflict. **See** Padovano, Fla. App. Practice § 2.10 (West 1988) ("dicta conflict cannot exist"). To suggest otherwise would create the paradox of expanding the Supreme Court's jurisdiction by impermissibly redefining the very rule that narrows it. See, e.g., Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1986) (dissent cannot establish conflict); Dodi Publishins Co. V. Editorial American, S.A., 385 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 1980) (per curiam affirmance which merely cites a precedent is not reviewable); Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980) (per curiam affirmance is unreviewable; conflict can not be based on an examination of the record).

# CONCLUSION

The BITTERMANS have argued nothing more than what they consider to be an alleged individual injustice created by the Fourth District's opinion. Supreme Court review, however, is not intended for that purpose. Rather, it is intended only to reconcile patently irreconcilable decisions to bring consistency to the law. Discretionary review must therefore be denied.